Long-term stability of two-stage aerobic granular sludge system for combined organic matter and nitrogen removal from aerobically digested centrate wastewater

by

LU KONG

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in Environmental Engineering

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering University of Alberta

© LU KONG, 2024

Abstract

Nitrogen is an essential element for all living organisms and plays a key role in various biological processes. However, excessive nitrogen levels in the environment can lead to significant ecological issues, including water pollution and eutrophication, resulting in harmful algal blooms, oxygen depletion, and loss of aquatic life. Ammonia is the primary form of nitrogen compound in sewage and requires effective treatment in wastewater treatment plants. High ammonia and high chemical oxygen demand (COD) wastewater pose severe environmental threats, further exacerbating these issues. Effective and energy-efficient nitrogen removal technologies are essential to meet stringent discharge standards.

The overall objective of this thesis is to evaluate a two-stage moving bed biofilm reactor (MBBR) followed by an aerobic granular sludge (AGS) system developed to treat high COD and high ammonia biosolid autothermal thermophilic aerobic digestion (ATAD) centrate. The MBBR efficiently handled high organic loading rates (OLRs) exceeding 20 kg COD/m³/d and reduced the carbon to nitrogen (C/N) ratios from 6 to 3. Treated effluent was then processed in the AGS system, where nitrogen removal was primarily accomplished via the nitritation/denitritation pathway, with removal efficiencies reaching 98.9% for NH4⁺-N and 91.7% for total inorganic nitrogen (TIN). After 200 days of operation, the AGS system had an optimized hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 10 hours and maintained a sludge volume index (SVI) between 40 to 80 mL/g, achieving a nitrogen treatment capacity of 1.77 kg N/m³/d. Ammonia oxidizing bacteria (AOB) demonstrated substantial nitrogen conversion efficiency, evidenced by nitrogen conversion rates of 0.57 \pm 0.02 g N/g VSS/day and denitritation rates of 1.27 \pm 0.01 g N/g VSS/day.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Lu Kong. All of the studies conducted in this thesis was designed and planned by me and supervised by Professor Yang Liu at the University of Alberta.

Chapter 4: Professor Yang Liu, Xin Zou contributed to the research planning; and Professor Yang Liu contributed to the manuscript edits.

Lastly, a version of Chapter 4 has been prepared for journal publication.

Acknowledgment

There are many individuals whose support has been crucial to the completion of this thesis, and I would like to express my sincere gratitude to them.

First and foremost, I wish to thank my supervisor, Dr. Yang Liu. I have been incredibly fortunate to have her as my mentor throughout my studies. Her clear guidance and unwavering support have been invaluable, helping me grow as a critical thinker and researcher.

I also want to extend my appreciation to the postdoctoral fellows in my research group: Dr. Huixin Zhang, Dr. Huijuan Sun, Dr. Qi Huang, Dr. Lei Zhang and Dr. Yingdi Zhang. Their valuable suggestions and assistance have significantly contributed to my research.

Additionally, I am deeply grateful to my friends and colleagues: Xin Zou, Yiduo Yao, Yihui Zhang, Hengbo Guo, Jiyuan Xu, Chengyuan Li, Yiyang Yuan and Carlo. Their generous support and understanding have made this journey both productive and enjoyable.

Lastly, this work would not have been possible without the love, support, and encouragement of my family. My parents and friends have been a constant source of strength, helping me navigate through the challenging moments. I am deeply grateful to everyone who showed kindness and provided help throughout my master's journey.

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Acknowledgment	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations	ix
Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Research objectives	2
1.3 Thesis structure	
Chapter 2 – Literature Review	4
2.1 Overview of nitrogen and COD in the environment	4
2.2 Complete nitrification and denitrification	5
2.2.1 Nitrifying organisms	7
2.2.1.1 Ammonia oxidation	7
2.2.1.2 Nitrite oxidation	9
2.2.2 Denitrifying organisms	9
2.2.2.1 Heterotrophic denitrifying organisms	
2.2.2.2 Autotrophic denitrifying organisms	
2.3 Nitritation and denitritation	
2.3.1 Achieving nitritation and denitritation	11
2.3.1.1 pH	11
2.3.1.2 DO	11
2.3.1.3 SRT	
2.3.1.4 Free ammonia (FA), and free nitrous acid (FNA)	
2.3.2 Nitritation/denitritation in granular sludge reactors	14
2.4 Technologies for high ammonia and high COD wastewater treatment	14
2.4.1 Membrane bioreactor (MBR)	15
2.4.2 Moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR)	15
2.4.3 Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND)	

Table of Contents

2.5 Operation strategy for ATAD centrate wastewater	
2.5.1 Characteristics of ATAD centrate wastewater	
2.5.2 Impact of C/N ratios	
2.5.3 Two-stage MBBR-AGS configuration	
Chapter 3 – Methodology	
3.1 Experimental set-up	
3.1.1 Process design	
3.1.2 Wastewater collection and characteristics	
3.1.3 Operation of the MBBR reactor	
3.1.4 Operation of the AGS reactor	
3.1.5 MBBR-AGS system operation conditions	
3.2 Analytical procedures	
3.3 Cycle tests	
3.4 Microbial activity tests	
3.5 DNA extraction and microbial analysis	
3.6. Statistical analysis	
Chapter 4 - Results and Discussion	
4.1 Performance of the MBBR reactor	
4.2 Performance of AGS	
4.3 Sludge properties in the AGS reactor	
4.4 Specific microbial activities in the AGS reactor	
4.5 Nitrogen removal on typical AGS cycle	
4.6 Microbial Community Dynamics	
4.6.1 Alpha diversity of the microbial community	
4.6.2 MBBR microbial community dynamics	
4.6.3 AGS microbial community dynamics	
Chapter 5 – Conclusions and Directions for Future Work	40
5.1 Conclusions	40
5.2 Future work	40
References	

List of Tables

Table 1. The physicochemical characteristics of three different batches of wastewater.	
Table 2. MBBR-AGS operation conditions	
Table 3. Indices of microbial variety in the MBBR and AGS reactors.	

List of Figures

Fig. 1. Complete nitrification diagram. Key enzymes include AMO for ammonia
monooxygenase, HAO for hydroxylamine oxidoreductase, and NOR for nitrite oxidoreductase. 6
Fig. 2. Complete denitrification diagram. Nar is nitrate reductase, Nir is nitrite reductase, Nor is
nitric oxide reductase, and Nos is nitrous oxide reductase
Fig. 3. Performance of MBBR reactor across varied influent wastewater batches: (a) Influent
and effluent COD/ NH_4^+ -N ratio; (b) Influent and effluent NH_4^+ -N concentrations and NH_4^+ -N
removal efficiencies
Fig. 4. AGS reactor performance following MBBR reactor treatment: (a) COD Removal by
MBBR and AGS, nonbiodegradable COD, COD removal efficiency, and bCOD/ NH_4^+ -N Ratio;
(b) Influent and effluent nitrogen concentration; (c) N removal efficiencies
Fig. 5. Sludge properties: (a) Concentrations of mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) and
mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS); (b) Sludge volume index (SVI) values at 5 min
and 30 min
Fig. 6. Specific microbial activity tests. (a) Activity of ammonia oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and
nitrite oxidizing bacteria (NOB); (b) Activity of denitritation and denitrification
Fig. 7. Variations in NH_4^+ -N, NO_2^- -N and NO_3^- -N concentrations in the typical cycle tests: (a)
Stage 1 (Cycle = 12), (b) Stage 2 (Cycle = 8 h), (d) Stage 3 (Cycle = 6 h), (e) Stage 4 (Cycle = 4
h)
Fig. 8. Relative abundance of the microbial community from the MBBR reactor at the phylum
level
Fig. 9. Microbial community of the granular sludge in the AGS reactor at the phylum
Fig. 10. Microbial community of the granular sludge in the AGS reactor at the genus level 39

List of Abbreviations

NH_{4}^{+}	Ammonium
NO_2^-	Nitrite
NO_3^-	Nitrate
AGS	Aerobic granular sludge
AMO	Ammonia Monooxygenase
AOA	Ammonia Oxidizing Archaea
AOB	Ammonia Oxidizing Bacteria
ATAD	Autothermal thermophilic aerobic digestion
CAS	Conventional activated sludge
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
Comammox	Complete ammonia oxidation
DO	Dissolved oxygen
FA	Free ammonia
FNA	Free nitrous acid
НАО	Hydroxylamine Oxidoreductase
HNO3	Nitric acid
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
MBR	Membrane bioreactor
MBBR	Membrane biofilm bioreactor
MLSS	Mixed liquor suspended solids
MLVSS	Mixed liquor volatile suspended solids
Nar	Nitrate reductase

NH3	Ammonia
Nir	Nitrite reductase
NOB	Nitrite Oxidizing Bacteria
Nor	Nitrite Oxidoreductase
Nos	Nitrous oxide reductase
SBR	Sequencing batch reactor
SRT	Solid retention time
SVI	Sludge volume index
TIN	Total inorganic nitrogen
WWTPs	Wastewater treatment plant

Chapter 1 – Introduction

1.1 Background

Ammonia, commonly found in diverse aquatic environments, is integral to the synthesis of nitrogen-based products including fertilizers, cleaning agents, refrigerants, and polymers(Ishaq & Crawford, 2024). While it serves critical industrial and agricultural purposes, ammonia is also associated with significant ecological risks. It is toxic to aquatic organisms and contributes to eutrophication, which can degrade water quality and disrupt aquatic ecosystems. Furthermore, ammonia volatilization into the atmosphere plays a role in the formation of greenhouse gases, adding to its environmental footprint. Regulatory frameworks are essential for minimizing the impact of ammonia emissions. Canadian guidelines for the release of ammonia in wastewater effluents mandate that wastewater facilities maintain ammonia concentrations in water at or below 0.019 mg/L to mitigate its ecological impact (Canada, 1999). In Alberta, the Approval to Operate (#361975-00-00) sets specific seasonal effluent thresholds, limiting ammonium-nitrogen to 5 mg/L during warmer months and 10 mg/L in colder months. Ensuring ammonia is effectively treated and reduced in municipal wastewater before it enters natural waterways is a critical environmental safeguard.

Aerobic granular sludge (AGS) technology is highly regarded for its superior biological nutrient removal (BNR) capabilities and resilience against operational fluctuations. Featuring a compact, granular structure, AGS enhances biomass retention and fosters a diverse microbial environment (Abdullah et al., 2013; X. Liu et al., 2015; Miyake et al., 2022; Sarma & Tay, 2018). These features lead to significant reductions in energy consumption and operational costs, offering advantages over conventional activated sludge (CAS) systems. The granular form also ensures

excellent sedimentation and increased biomass concentration, enabling effective management of sudden high-load impacts (Chen et al., 2024). Moreover, AGS supports the simultaneous removal of organic pollutants, nutrients, and toxic contaminants from wastewater, addressing multiple environmental concerns efficiently. This capability makes AGS an essential tool in modern wastewater management strategies, effectively tackling a wide range of treatment challenges.

Given that chemical oxygen demand (COD) is a crucial component of wastewater, effectively removing both nitrogen and COD simultaneously can greatly enhance the cost-effectiveness and energy efficiency of the biological nutrient removal process. AGS technology is well-suited for treating biosolids aerobically digested centrate wastewater that exhibits high levels of ammonia and COD. In optimizing AGS technology for such applications, it is important to consider the C/N ratio, which significantly impacts the efficacy of nitrogen removal processes. For the treatment of biosolids autothermal thermophilic aerobic digestion (ATAD) centrate with C/N ratios greater than 6, a two-stage treatment approach is recommended. By initially using a moving bed biofilm reactor (MBBR) to reduce biodegradable COD, this configuration stabilizes the C/N ratio, enhancing the subsequent performance of the AGS in nitritation/denitritation processes and optimizing the treatment of high COD and high ammonia wastewater.

1.2 Research objectives

This study evaluated the performance of a lab-scale, two-stage MBBR-AGS system for the simultaneous removal of COD and nitrogen from ATAD centrate wastewater. The present study delineates three principal objectives:

(1) to develop and optimize a two-stage treatment system that integrates an MBBR and an AGS to process high COD and high ammonia wastewater efficiently;

(2) to investigate the nitrogen removal pathways within this system, assessing both the COD and nitrogen removal efficiencies and the long-term operational stability;

(3) to conduct a detailed analysis of the microbial community present within the biofilms, flocs, and granular sludge to understand the microbial dynamics and their contributions to the treatment process.

1.3 Thesis structure

Chapter 1 delineates the background and objectives of this study. Chapter 2 is a literature review of previous studies concerning nitrogen and COD removal. Chapter 3 detailed the experimental methods for analyzing reactor performance and microbial community dynamics, accompanied by an overview of the reactor's operational parameters and the wastewater's characteristics. Chapter 4 details the findings from long-term operations of MBBR and AGS, discussing the reactors' performance and microbial community analysis during the two-stage MBBR-AGS process. Chapter 5 encapsulates the research outcomes and outlines recommendations for future implementation. The results presented in this thesis will be published.

Chapter 2 – Literature Review

2.1 Overview of nitrogen and COD in the environment

Nitrogen is an essential element naturally occurring in the environment and is critical for the growth and reproduction of living organisms. It is found in various forms in wastewater, including ammonia (NH₃), ammonium (NH₄⁺), nitrogen gas (N₂), nitrite (NO₂), nitrate (NO₃), and organic nitrogen (EPA, 1993). The removal of nitrogen from wastewater is typically managed through physical, chemical, and biological methods. Physical treatment techniques such as ammonia stripping, ion exchange, and adsorption are implicated in the retention of organic pollutants, which leads to substantial operational costs and the production of secondary pollutants requiring further treatment (Gupta et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2022; Priya et al., 2022; Scandelai et al., 2020). Chemical processes like breakpoint chlorination and magnesium ammonium phosphate hexahydrate precipitation, though quick and simple, also entail significant expenditures and result in by-products that necessitate further processing and considerable labour (Aghdam et al., 2021; Huang et al., 2017; Yi et al., 2020). In contrast, biological methods are recognized for their high efficiency in degrading pollutants without generating secondary pollution, establishing them as a mature and preferable approach in nitrogen management.

The most widespread biological method for nitrogen removal from wastewater is the activated sludge process, which combines nitrification and denitrification. The COD content critically affects the performance of this nitrogen removal process. It has been observed that high COD levels detrimentally impact autotrophic nitrification due to the competitive consumption of oxygen by both autotrophic and heterotrophic microorganisms (Zhao et al., 2013). Additionally,

the efficiency of the denitrification process is closely dependent on the carbon to nitrogen (C/N) ratio, which provides essential organic carbon for the denitrifying bacteria to function effectively.

2.2 Complete nitrification and denitrification

Nitrification is a two-stage aerobic biological process that converts ammonia first to nitrite and then to nitrate. This conversion is facilitated by two types of aerobic chemoautotrophs: ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (NOB). These bacteria are distinct from heterotrophic bacteria that consume organic materials, as chemoautotrophs use carbon dioxide as their carbon source and inorganic compounds as their energy source for the growth (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014). Complete nitrification consists of five sub-steps:

Step 1: $NH_3 + O_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow NH_2OH + H_2O$	(Equation 1)
Step 2: $NH_2OH + H_2O \rightarrow NO_2^- + 5H^+ + 4e^-$	(Equation 2)
Step 3: $0.5O_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_2O$	(Equation 3)
$\Sigma: NH_3 + 1.5O_2 \rightarrow NO_2^- + H^+ + H_2O$ ($\Delta G=-274.91 \text{KJ/mol N}$)	
Step 4: $NO_2^- + H_2O \rightarrow NO_3^- + 2H^+ + 2e^-$	(Equation 4)
Step 5: $0.5O_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_2O$	(Equation 5)
Σ: $NO_2^- + 0.5O_2 \to NO_3^-$ (ΔG=-74.16KJ/mol N)	

Fig. 1 illustrates the two stages of the nitrification process, highlighting the specific enzymes and oxygen needs associated with each step. In AOB, the enzymes ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) and hydroxylamine oxidoreductase (HAO) catalyze the conversion of NH₃ to NO_2^2 . Meanwhile, NOB utilizes nitrite oxidoreductase (NOR) to convert NO_2^2 to NO_3^2 .



Fig. 1. Complete nitrification diagram. Key enzymes include AMO for ammonia monooxygenase, HAO for hydroxylamine oxidoreductase, and NOR for nitrite oxidoreductase.

Denitrification is an anoxic biological process that sequentially reduces nitrate and/or nitrite to nitrogen gas. This process is initiated by converting nitrate to nitrite, which is then reduced to nitric oxide (NO), followed by nitrous oxide (N₂O), and finally to nitrogen gas (N₂) (Fig. 2). This pathway mitigates nitrogen accumulation in aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems, thereby preventing eutrophication. Denitrification differs from nitrification in that it is conducted by a wide variety of heterotrophic bacteria rather than specific chemoautotrophs. Denitrifying microorganisms require a source of available carbon. The denitrification process can stall at the N₂O stage if carbon is limited. These heterotrophs are capable of using a diverse array of carbon sources to facilitate denitrification, including organic compounds present in both domestic and industrial wastewater, as well as simpler substances such as methanol, ethanol, acetic acid, and sugars.



Fig. 2. Complete denitrification diagram. Nar is nitrate reductase, Nir is nitrite reductase, Nor is nitric oxide reductase, and Nos is nitrous oxide reductase.

2.2.1 Nitrifying organisms

As previously discussed, nitrification is a critical biological process within the nitrogen cycle, consisting of two key stages: ammonia oxidation and nitrite oxidation.

2.2.1.1 Ammonia oxidation

The oxidation of ammonia to nitrite is facilitated by:

(1) Ammonia oxidizing bacteria (AOB)

The seminal study that first identified AOB involved the isolation of *Nitrosomonas europaea* from the β -subclass of *proteobacteria*, establishing it as the archetype for AOB in nitrification research (Han et al., 2018; Koops et al., 2006). AOB are divided into two principal phylogenetic classes: γ -*Proteobacteria* and β -*Proteobacteria*. The γ -*Proteobacteria* class, represented by *Nitrosococcus*—a purple sulfur bacterium largely found in marine environments (family Chromatiaceae)—is generally not relevant to wastewater treatment due to its marine nature. In contrast, the β -*Proteobacteria* class, which includes *Nitrosomonas* and *Nitrosospira* (family Nitrosomonadaceae), plays a significant role in wastewater treatment systems due to its effectiveness in such environments (Könneke et al., 2005; Koops et al., 2006).

(2) Ammonia oxidizing archaea (AOA)

Archaeal ammonia monooxygenase (AMO), encoded by all studied AOA, catalyzes the aerobic oxidation of ammonia to hydroxylamine, initiating the nitrification process (Simon & Klotz, 2013). Despite ongoing research, the enzyme responsible for converting hydroxylamine to nitrite, presumably an archaeal hydroxylamine oxidoreductase (HAO), remains unidentified, along with

its cofactors (Radniecki & Lauchnor, 2011). AOA is identified within the mesophilic *Crenarchaeota* and a newly proposed lineage known as *Thaumarchaeota*, spanning two broad phylogenetic groups with origins in aquatic environments and soil/sediment (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014). AOA tend to have a greater affinity for oxygen than AOB, and the concentration of dissolved oxygen (DO) plays a pivotal role in their effectiveness in eutrophic wastewater treatment settings. Studies have shown that marine AOA cultured in isolation can uphold substantial ammonia oxidation activity even when oxygen levels are below 10 μ M (Yang et al., 2021). This resilience and efficiency in low-oxygen environments suggest that AOA could play a significant role in improving nitrogen removal processes in various aquatic treatment systems.

(3) Complete ammonia oxidizing bacteria (Comammox)

The recent discovery of the complete ammonia oxidation (Comammox) process has revised the traditional understanding that nitrification requires a rigid two-step sequence (Daims et al., 2015). Comammox involves the transformation of ammonia directly into nitrate by a single organism within the *Nitrospira* genus, known specifically as comammox *Nitrospira* (Lawson & Lücker, 2018). Optimal conditions for the proliferation of comammox *Nitrospira* include environments with low dissolved oxygen (DO) and ammonia levels or those with limited nitrite availability and prolonged solids retention times (SRTs) (Roots et al., 2019). The competitive interactions for ammonia between traditional AOB and Comammox organisms are crucial in promoting nitritation, a key process for streamlined nitrogen removal strategies (Izadi et al., 2021).

Investigations reveal that AOB predominates in wastewater treatment facilities with high ammonia concentrations, whereas environments with low ammonia and limited nutrients tend to favor AOA and comammox bacteria (Kits et al., 2017; M. Zheng et al., 2019).

2.2.1.2 Nitrite oxidation

Following the oxidation of ammonia, the resultant nitrite is further oxidized to nitrate, a step predominantly facilitated by nitrite oxidizing bacteria (NOB). The seven established genera of NOB include *Nitrobacter*, *Nitrotoga*, *Nitrococcus*, *Nitrospira*, *Nitrospina*, *Nitrolancea*, *and Candidatus Nitromaritima*, spanning four bacterial phyla: *Proteobacteria*, *Chloroflexi*, *Nitrospinae*, and *Nitrospirae* (Daims et al., 2016; Watson & Waterbury, 1971). In wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), the genus *Nitrospira* is the predominant NOB. Additionally, *Nitrotoga* has recently been acknowledged as an important contributor to nitrite oxidation within these engineered systems (Daims et al., 2001; Hüpeden et al., 2016; Kruse et al., 2013). Particularly in industrial WWTPs, NOB activity tends to be unstable. Interruptions in the nitrite oxidation process can result in substantial ecological damage if nitrite unintentionally enters natural waterways.

2.2.2 Denitrifying organisms

Bacteria capable of denitrification include both heterotrophic and autotrophic types. Denitrifying microorganisms consist of bacterial groups such as *Bacillus, Enterobacter, Micrococcus, Pseudomonas, Spirillum, Proteus, Aerobacter,* and *Flavobacterium*. Most of these bacteria are facultative anaerobic chemoheterotrophs, which utilize organic compounds as electron donors and carbon sources, and use nitrate as the terminal electron acceptor (Meng et al., 2014).

2.2.2.1 Heterotrophic denitrifying organisms

Several studies have reported that the common heterotrophic/anoxic denitrifying genera in wastewater treatment include *Acidovorax*, *Thermomonas*, *Defluviimonas*, *Gemmobacter*, *Thauera*, *Zoogloea*, and *Azoarcus* (Holmes et al., 2019). Additionally, the heterotrophic bacterium Paracoccus pantotropha has been extensively studied for its ability to simultaneously oxidize ammonia and reduce nitrate (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014).

2.2.2.2 Autotrophic denitrifying organisms

Autotrophic denitrifiers utilize CO₂ or bicarbonate as their carbon source. Several autotrophic bacteria have been found to reduce nitrate or nitrite and oxidize various electron donors. These include zero-valence iron and Fe (II) by *Paracoccus ferrooxidans*, *Paracoccus denitrificans*, *P. pantotrophus*, and *P. versutus* reduced sulfur compounds by *Thiobacillus denitrificans* and ammonia by *Nitrosomonas eutropha*, *Nitrosomonas europaea*, and *Nitrosolobus multiformis* (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014).

2.3 Nitritation and denitritation

Nitritation refers to the conversion of nitrogen from ammonium into nitrite, facilitated by aerobic AOB. Denitritation is the process where biological reduction converts nitrite into nitrogen gas and other nitrogenous gaseous byproducts. The advancement of nitritation-denitritation processes during the 1990s was propelled by the need to lower energy and chemical consumption in the treatment of high strength sidestream nitrogen (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014).

2.3.1 Achieving nitritation and denitritation

The key to achieving nitritation-denitritation is to control the oxidation of ammonia to nitrite instead of nitrate and to accumulate nitrite. This requires inhibiting or eliminating NOB while allowing AOB to dominate as the primary nitrifying bacteria. Several parameters, such as pH, temperature, dissolved oxygen (DO), sludge retention time (SRT), free ammonia (FA), and free nitrous acid (FNA), have been reported to influence the growth kinetics of AOB and NOB, which are crucial for achieving nitritation (Qian et al., 2016).

2.3.1.1 pH

For optimal nitrification, the pH should be maintained between 7.5 and 8.0, whereas denitrification works best within a pH range of 7 to 9 (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014). When pH drops below 7, nitritation efficiency can decrease by 80-90%. Additives like sodium bicarbonate or lime can be used to keep pH within the ideal range. Pure cultures of AOB grow best within a pH range of 5.8 to 8.5, while NOB cultures thrive between 6.5 and 8.5 (Claros et al., 2013). Nitrification is inhibited at pH levels below 6.5 or above 8.9. The optimal pH ranges for AOB are 7.5 to 8.0 or 7.4 to 7.8, and for NOB, it is 7.6 to 7.8 (Holmes et al., 2019). Thus, solely adjusting pH to eliminate NOB is not feasible. Moreover, pH influences FA and FNA levels, which in turn affect nitritation (Qian et al., 2016).

2.3.1.2 DO

The concentration of dissolved oxygen (DO) plays a pivotal role in the effectiveness of nitritation-denitritation processes in wastewater treatment. AOB have an oxygen half-saturation coefficient of 0.2-0.4 mg/L, whereas NOB have a coefficient of 1.2-1.5 mg/L (Tchobanoglous et

al., 2014). This indicates that AOB possess a higher oxygen affinity, allowing them to dominate over NOB under low DO conditions, which is essential for achieving nitritation. Nitritation has been successfully achieved at DO concentrations of 1.4 mg/L (Ciudad et al., 2005), and DO ranges between 0.5 mg/L and 1.5 mg/L have been found suitable for partial nitrification (Ruiz et al., 2006). Optimal DO levels reported in some studies range from 1.5 to 2.0 mg/L, suggesting that a DO concentration between 0.5 and 2.0 mg/L may be ideal for this process (Ge et al., 2014). Additionally, elevated DO concentrations can hinder denitrification because enzymes such as nitrite reductases (Nir) and nitrous oxide reductases (Nos) are sensitive to DO, causing the buildup of harmful NO and N₂O. Thus, maintaining a low DO concentration (0.5-1 mg/L) is not only beneficial for promoting nitritation but also enhances energy efficiency in WWTPs (Ge et al., 2015).

2.3.1.3 SRT

Sludge retention time (SRT) significantly influences nitritation efficiency. The minimum doubling time for AOB is 7-8 hours, which is shorter than the 10-13 hours required for NOB (Soliman & Eldyasti, 2018). Adjusting the SRT can therefore impact the composition of the microbial community. Research indicates that a short SRT (less than 2 days) can successfully wash out NOB, while also promoting nitrite production (Hellinga et al., 1998). To effectively suppress NOB, the chosen SRT should be longer than their minimum reproduction time, and this should be coupled with specific DO conditions (Reino & Carrera, 2021). However, if the SRT is extremely long or if sludge is not regularly discharged, factors such as DO and temperature may not adequately inhibit NOB, and additional measures may be necessary to control their growth.

2.3.1.4 Free ammonia (FA), and free nitrous acid (FNA)

AOB and NOB activities can be inhibited by high ammonia or nitrite levels, commonly found in aerobic digesters and high-ammonia wastewater treatments like anaerobic digester centrate return and animal feedlots. The inhibitors are un-ionized ammonia (NH₃-N) and un-ionized nitrous acid (HNO₂), with their concentrations depending on reactor pH, temperature, total ammonia nitrogen (TAN) for NH₃-N, and NO₂-N for HNO₂. The concentrations of FA and FNA can be estimated using Equations 6 and 7.

FA as NH₃-N=
$$\frac{TAN(10^{pH})}{\left(\frac{1}{K_a}\right)+10^{pH}}$$
 (Equation 6)

Where $\frac{1}{K_a} = e^{[\frac{6334}{273+T}]}$

FNA as HNO₂-N= $\frac{NO_2 - N}{K_n(10^{pH})}$ (Equation 7)

Where $K_n = e^{\left[-\frac{2300}{273+T}\right]}$

Inhibiting NOB activity using FNA in wastewater is a well-known method. Research has shown that FNA concentrations of 0.42–1.72 mg HNO₂-N/L can reduce AOB activity by 50%. However, NOB can be inhibited at much lower concentrations of 0.011–0.07 mg HNO₂-N/L and completely inhibited at concentrations of 0.026–0.22 mg HNO₂-N/L (Zhou et al., 2011). FA inhibits the oxidation of ammonium and nitrite ions during nitritation. NOB activity is inhibited by FA at concentrations of 0.1–1.0 mg NH₃-N/L, while AOB activity is inhibited at higher concentrations of 10–150 mg NH₃-N/L (Liu et al., 2019). Therefore, FA concentrations of 1–10 mg NH₃-N/L are considered optimal for nitritation, with studies indicating that concentrations of 5–10 mg NH₃-N/L effectively inhibit NOB without affecting AOB activity (Sui et al., 2016).

2.3.2 Nitritation/denitritation in granular sludge reactors

Aerobic granular sludge (AGS) technology has been recognized for its superior biological nutrient removal (BNR) efficiencies and exceptional resilience to operational shocks, such as load fluctuations (Abdullah et al., 2013; X. Liu et al., 2015; Miyake et al., 2022; Sarma & Tay, 2018). Its dense, granular sludge structure enhances robust biomass retention and supports a diverse microbial community, contributing to significant reductions in energy requirements and operational costs compared to conventional activated sludge (CAS) systems (Chen et al., 2024; Hussain et al., 2024). This innovative technology promotes the growth of ammonia oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and denitrifiers, facilitating the concurrent reduction of nitrogen and COD. The unique properties of granular sludge make it an ideal and efficient solution for nitritation/denitritation in a single reactor, optimizing nitrogen removal. This innovation reduces the land footprint and capital costs for WWTPs by eliminating the need for separate settling tanks and significantly boosts the performance and reliability of industrial wastewater treatment operations.

2.4 Technologies for high ammonia and high COD wastewater treatment

Current strategies for treating high ammonia and high COD wastewater primarily employ advanced technologies such as membrane bioreactors (MBR), moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR), and simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND). These methods are highly effective and widely used in various wastewater treatment applications.

2.4.1 Membrane bioreactor (MBR)

Membrane bioreactor (MBR) technology revolutionizes wastewater treatment by merging the activated sludge process with advanced membrane filtration. Utilizing microfiltration (MF) or ultrafiltration (UF) membranes with pore sizes between 0.05 and 0.4 μ m, MBRs effectively retain almost all suspended solids and biomass within the bioreactor, ensuring superior solid-liquid separation and enhancing overall treatment efficiency. The MBR has been reported to effectively handle high ammonium nitrogen (NH⁺₄ -N) concentrations up to 1000 mg/L, with COD levels increasing from 0 to 2000 mg/L and a C/N ratio of up to 2. As the C/N ratio increased, the relative abundances of both AOB and nitrite-oxidizing bacteria NOB involved in the nitrification process gradually declined (Xu et al., 2021).

2.4.2 Moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR)

Due to early challenges with biofilm reactors, such as hydraulic instability and uneven biofilm distribution, moving bed biofilm reactor (MBBR) technology was developed (Di Biase et al., 2019). The MBBR system features an aeration tank with special plastic carriers that provide a surface for biofilm growth. These carriers come in various shapes and sizes, each with unique benefits and drawbacks. A large internal surface area is essential for effective biofilm formation as it enhances contact with water, air, bacteria, and nutrients (Mazioti et al., 2017). The aeration system mixes the carriers in the tank, ensuring good interaction between the wastewater substrate and the biomass on the carriers. The MBBR has been demonstrated to effectively manage NH⁴₄-N concentrations ranging from 500 to 1,000 mg/L, with COD levels increasing from 4,000 to 8,000 mg/L and a C/N ratio reaching up to 8, with a hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 5 days.

Microbial analysis revealed that *Acinetobacter*, *Pseudomonas*, and *Paracoccus* were the primary bacteria involved in nitrogen removal.

2.4.3 Simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND)

Simultaneous nitrification-denitrification (SND) enables complete nitrogen removal within a single bioreactor under certain operating conditions. This method contrasts with the conventional process of sequential nitrification and denitrification, which are usually conducted in separate bioreactors at WWTPs (Di Capua et al., 2022). SND serves as an effective and promising alternative to pre-denitrification in WWTPs for simultaneously removing carbon and nitrogen, offering several benefits: (1) it reduces carbon demand and sludge production by over 30% (Ma et al., 2017) (2) denitrification provides alkalinity, maintaining a neutral pH, (3) it eliminates the need for nitrate recirculation, (4) it requires less energy for aeration and (5) it necessitates a smaller footprint (Zinatizadeh & Ghaytooli, 2015). SND has proven to effectively handle NH⁴-N concentrations between 2000 and 2500 mg/L, with COD levels ranging from 10,000 to 15,000 mg/L and a C/N ratio of up to 7, operating with an HRT of 8 days. A consortium of artificial microbial consortia, with *Bacillus haynesii*, *Bacillus subtilis*, and *Sphingobacterium sp*. as the core members, was developed to exhibit excellent simultaneous nitrification and denitrification capabilities (Ke et al., 2024).

2.5 Operation strategy for ATAD centrate wastewater

2.5.1 Characteristics of ATAD centrate wastewater

Autothermal Thermophilic Aerobic Digestion (ATAD) is a high-temperature sludge treatment technology that operates between 55°C and 65°C, using heat generated from microbial

metabolism. This process rapidly degrades organic matter, reduces sludge volume, and inactivates pathogens, making the treated sludge safer. ATAD is recognized for its simplicity and cost-effectiveness in stabilizing various types of organic waste. (Martín et al., 2018; Tashiro et al., 2018). ATAD sludge centrate exhibits several distinct characteristics which are critical for both operational efficiency:

1. Elevated temperature: The centrate typically maintains high temperatures, generally between 50°C to 70°C, due to the thermophilic conditions inherent in the ATAD process.

2. Pathogen reduction: The elevated temperatures in ATAD effectively reduce pathogen levels, resulting in a centrate with significantly lower concentrations of harmful microorganisms, enhancing its safety for handling and disposal.

3. Organic matter degradation: ATAD is highly efficient in degrading organic compounds, leading to a centrate with reduced concentrations of organic matter. This reduction improves the stability of the centrate and decreases its potential environmental impact.

4. Ammonia concentration: The centrate from ATAD processes often contains elevated levels of ammonia. This is a result of the thermophilic degradation of nitrogenous organic matter, which releases ammonia as a byproduct.

5. Nutrient content: The nutrient profile of ATAD sludge centrate includes significant concentrations of nitrogen and phosphorus. While these nutrients can be beneficial for

agricultural reuse, they may also necessitate further treatment to prevent environmental contamination if discharged into water bodies (Liu et al., 2013).

6. Odor control: One of the advantages of the ATAD process is the significant reduction in odorous compounds, attributed to the effective breakdown of volatile organic substances under thermophilic conditions (Martín et al., 2018).

7. Solids content: The centrate may still contain dissolved and suspended solids that need to be managed through additional treatment or filtration processes to meet regulatory discharge standards (Liu et al., 2011).

When the ATAD system is not performing effectively, the centrate can have extremely high COD (Chemical Oxygen Demand) levels, leading to wastewater that is exceedingly difficult to treat due to the combined presence of high ammonia and COD concentrations. This presents significant challenges for wastewater treatment facilities and may require advanced treatment methods to meet discharge regulations.

2.5.2 Impact of C/N ratios

Previous studies have indicated that the presence of high levels of COD can adversely impact the autotrophic nitrification process. This is primarily due to the competition for oxygen between autotrophic nitrifying bacteria and heterotrophic microorganisms. High COD levels provide a substrate for heterotrophs, which can outcompete autotrophs for oxygen, thereby inhibiting the efficiency of the nitrification process (Zhao et al., 2013). The C/N ratio is a key factor affecting granule formation, size, and stability (Wang et al., 2020). Studies have used a high C/N ratio (~8)

to cultivate granular sludge but this can negatively impact nitrogen removal (Hamza et al., 2019; L. Wang et al., 2020). Conversely, low C/N ratios, such as 1, have been linked to granule disintegration (Luo et al., 2014).

2.5.3 Two-stage MBBR-AGS configuration

The MBBR has proven effective for treating wastewater with COD levels from 1500 to 8000 mg/L, achieving efficient treatment within HRT ranging from 7 hours to 5 days (Phan et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2020). By initially using an MBBR to reduce biodegradable COD, this configuration stabilizes the C/N ratio, enhancing the subsequent performance of the AGS in nitritation/denitritation processes and optimizing the treatment of high COD and high ammonia wastewater (Ahmadi et al., 2023; Kamilya et al., 2023).

Chapter 3 – Methodology

3.1 Experimental set-up

3.1.1 Process design

The study was conducted in a two-stage configuration. Raw wastewater was fed into a 6 L MBBR reactor. This reactor was operated under continuous aerating as pre-treatment to accomplish the removal of COD. Then the effluent of the MBBR reactor was fed into a 4.5L AGS reactor (diameter: 11cm, height: 63cm). This reactor was operated under aerobic/anoxic conditions to achieve nitrogen removal via nitritation/denitritation process. The system was operated for more than 200 days at 20 °C to monitor its performance on a long-term basis.

3.1.2 Wastewater collection and characteristics

Autothermal thermophilic aerobic digestion (ATAD) centrate wastewater used in this study was regularly sampled from a full-scale wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) in Canada, with three distinct batches employed. These batches were collected onsite and preserved in a cold room at 4° C to reduce microbial activity before bioreactor treatment. The basic characteristics of the three different batches of wastewater are shown in Table 1.

pН	NH_4^+ - N	COD	COD/ NH ₄ ⁺ -N	Alkalinity	TN
	(mg/L)	(mg/L)	ratios	(mg/L)	(mg/L)
7.5	805-850	5000-5800	5.9-7.2	1995-2010	1050-1080
7.5	780-810	4400-4600	5.5-5.9	1700-1770	990-1010
8.3	725-740	3200-3400	4.4-4.7	1980-2010	975-995
	pH 7.5 7.5 8.3	pH NH ⁺ ₄ -N (mg/L) 7.5 805-850 7.5 780-810 8.3 725-740	pH NH ⁺ ₄ -N COD (mg/L) (mg/L) 7.5 805-850 5000-5800 7.5 780-810 4400-4600 8.3 725-740 3200-3400	pH NH ⁺ ₄ -N COD COD/ NH ⁺ ₄ -N (mg/L) (mg/L) ratios 7.5 805-850 5000-5800 5.9-7.2 7.5 780-810 4400-4600 5.5-5.9 8.3 725-740 3200-3400 4.4-4.7	pH NH ⁺ ₄ -N COD COD/NH ⁺ ₄ -N Alkalinity (mg/L) (mg/L) ratios (mg/L) 7.5 805-850 5000-5800 5.9-7.2 1995-2010 7.5 780-810 4400-4600 5.5-5.9 1700-1770 8.3 725-740 3200-3400 4.4-4.7 1980-2010

Table 1. The physicochemical characteristics of three different batches of wastewater.

3.1.3 Operation of the MBBR reactor

The MBBR was filled with polyethylene biocarriers, occupying 50% of the reactor's apparent volume. These carriers are cylindrical, with dimensions of 15mm in diameter and 9 mm in height and offer an effective specific surface area of approximately 463 m²/m³. During phase 1 (days 1-49), a 6-hour HRT was applied to cultivate biofilm on the carriers with wastewater from batch 1. In phases 2 and 3, covering days 50 to 130 and 131 to 200 respectively, a reduced 4-hour HRT was employed for the wastewater from batches 2 and 3. Air was pumped and diffused from the bottom of the reactor to supply oxygen to the reactor. An airflow meter was used to control the airflow precisely. During the reaction, the dissolved oxygen (DO) in the reactor was maintained at 2.2-2.5 mg/L by an air flowmeter. A ribbon impeller was installed to guarantee the effective mixing of carriers in the reactor.

3.1.4 Operation of the AGS reactor

The seeding sludge of the AGS reactor was obtained from the waste sludge of a lab-scale AGS cultivation reactor treating ammonia rich wastewater for a fast reactor startup (Zou, Gao, et al., 2024). The initial seed sludge concentration was ~7.0 g/L mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS). During process optimization, the operational cycle of the AGS reactor was gradually shortened from 12 h to 8 h to 6 h to 4 h. The system was controlled using timers. During the reactor operation, the feeding and discharging lasted 10 min. Settling times were 30 min for Stages 1-3 and reduced to 10 min for Stage 4. The anoxic period was reduced from 6 hours to 1 hour, and the aerobic period was reduced from 7 hours to 2.5 hours. In the start-up phase, raw water was used as the external carbon source, and from Stage 1 to Stage 4, methanol was used as the carbon source. The influent pH was adjusted to between 7.5 and 8.0 by adding NaHCO₃.

3.1.5 MBBR-AGS system operation conditions

Detailed in Table 2 is a compilation of the OLR for the MBBR, the nitrogen loading rate (NLR) for the AGS, and the ratio of bCOD to NH_4^+ -N in the influent, categorized by various operational stages. Throughout the stages, the system experienced an overall decrease in OLR from an initial 22.4±0.69 kg COD/m³/d during startup to 19.9±0.40 kg COD/m³/d by Stage 4. Conversely, the NLR increased from 0.67±0.014 kg N/m³/d to 1.77±0.0065 kg N/m³/d, reflecting an optimization of nitrogen removal. The bCOD/ NH₄⁺-N ratio saw a declining trend, starting at 5.03±0.39 and ending at 2.86±0.14.

Stages	Time	OLR of MBBR	NLR of AGS	bCOD/ NH ₄ ⁺ -N
	(days)	(kg COD/m ³ /d)	$(kg N/m^3/d)$	ratios
Start-up	1-49	22.4±0.69	0.67±0.014	5.03±0.39
Stage 1	50-85	27.3±0.33	0.63 ± 0.0064	4.41±0.11
Stage 2	86-119	27.4±0.42	0.94 ± 0.0088	4.44±0.10
Stage 3	120-150	22.5±3.51	1.20±0.036	3.24±0.06
Stage 4	151-200	19.9±0.40	1.77±0.0065	2.86±0.14

Table 2. MBBR-AGS operation conditions.

3.2 Analytical procedures

Samples of the MBBR and AGS reactors effluent were collected daily. NH⁺₄-N, NO⁻₂-N, NO⁻₃-N alkalinity, and COD concentrations were measured to determine the process performance. The concentrations of mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) and mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS) in the AGS reactor were measured once a week. The analysis of NH⁺₄-N, NO⁻₂-N, NO⁻₃-N and alkalinity was conducted using HACH kits and read by a DR 3900 spectrometer

(DR3900, HACH, Germany). The COD, MLSS, MLVSS, and sludge volume index (SVI) were carried out according to standard methods (American public health association et al., 2012).

3.3 Cycle tests

Cycle tests were conducted at the end of each of the five stages in the AGS reactor to understand nitrogen transformations, informing subsequent HRT adjustments and cycle optimization. Samples of mixed liquor were collected, filtered through 0.45 μ m filters, and determined for NH $_4^+$ -N, NO₂⁻-N, and NO₃⁻-N concentrations in each sample.

3.4 Microbial activity tests

Batch assays were conducted to assess the microbial activities of ammonia oxidizing bacteria (AOB), nitrite oxidizing bacteria (NOB), denitritation and denitrification. The specific microbial activities represent the maximum removal performance of the sludge under each operation stage. The biomass concentration was maintained constant at 4 g VSS/L in each batch test. All the batch assays were replicated in triplicate using sludge samples collected at steady state during the aerobic phase from the AGS reactor at 20 °C. The microbial activities were calculated and expressed as g N/g VSS/d.

AOB and NOB activity tests were performed in 160 mL serum bottles with 30 mL mixed liquor. The initial substrate concentration for the AOB activity test was 400 mg/L NH_4^+ -N and 2800 mg/L CaCO₃ alkalinity. For the NOB activity, the initial substrate concentration was 200 mg/L NO_2^--N and 1400 mg/L CaCO₃ alkalinity. To ensure the best performance, the pH of the mixed liquor was adjusted to 7.5-7.8 before sealing the serum bottles with rubber stoppers and aluminum caps. The serum bottles were then shaken at 160 rpm for an hour. Every 15 minutes, liquid samples were collected and immediately passed through 0.45 µm filters for the measurements of NH₄-N removal to assess AOB activity and NO_3^- -N production for NOB activity evaluation.

Denitritation and denitrification activities were conducted in 120 mL serum bottles with 80 mL mixed liquor. In the denitritation activity test, the mixed liquor contained 200 mg/L NO₂⁻-N and 1400 mg/L CaCO₃ alkalinity. For the denitrification activity test, the mixed liquor contained 100 mg/L NO₃⁻-N and 1400 mg CaCO₃/L alkalinity. Each bottle was flushed with N₂ gas for 5 min to provide an anoxic condition before being sealed with a rubber stopper and an aluminum cap and the initial pH was adjusted to 7.5-7.8. Then methanol was injected into the sealed bottles as a carbon source to provide a C/N ratio of 10. The serum bottles were then shaken at 180 rpm for 40 min. Every 10 minutes, liquid samples were collected and immediately passed through 0.45 µm filters for the measurements of removal of NO₂⁻-N to assess denitritation activity and NO₃⁻-N removal for denitrification evaluation.

3.5 DNA extraction and microbial analysis

Biomass samples of biofilm and flocs were collected during Phase 3 of the MBBR reactor operation. Samples of granular sludge were collected from the AGS reactor during each stable operational stage. Flocs and granular sludge samples were collected by centrifuging at 4000 rpm for 5 min and extracting the DNA from the pellet. The biofilm sample was washed by PBS three times before being cut into small pieces to be directly used in the DNA extraction. Then duplicate samples were extracted following the protocol using DNeasy PowerSoil® DNA Isolation Kits (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). NanoDrop One (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA) was used to check the DNA concentration and quality. The extracted DNA was stored at -20 °C before downstream analysis. 16S rRNA genes in the sludge were amplified using the universal primer pairs 515F and 806R, then sent for sequencing on the Illumina Miseq platform at the McGill University and Génome Québec Innovation Centre (Montréal, QC, Canada). Qiime2 DADA pipeline and the Silva 138 database with 99 % similarity were used to analyze raw data. R version 4.3.1 was used for data analysis (Bolyen et al., 2019; Callahan et al., 2016; Yilmaz et al., 2014).

3.6. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis utilizing the T-test within Microsoft® Excel® (version 2023) established the significance of the results, with a P-value under 0.05 denoting a significant difference.

Chapter 4 - Results and Discussion

4.1 Performance of the MBBR reactor

Fig. 3a. shows the variations in the C/N ratios across different phases of the MBBR system operation. During Phase 1, the system acclimatized to the first batch of wastewater, which started with a high C/N ratio of 6.8. After 50 days, this ratio stabilized to approximately 3.5. Transitioning to Phase 2, the system processed the second batch with an initial effluent C/N ratio of 5.8. With the hydraulic retention time (HRT) reduced from 6 to 4 hours during this phase, the effluent C/N ratio subsequently averaged 3.3. In Phase 3, the system handled the third batch of wastewater, starting with an influent C/N ratio of 4.5 and maintaining the HRT. This phase achieved a notable decrease in the effluent C/N ratio to an average of 2.7, demonstrating the system's adaptability and efficiency in managing nutrient ratios under varied operational conditions.

Short solids retention time (SRT) and HRT created conditions that were insufficient for optimal ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) proliferation (Pedrouso et al., 2023). Over 200 days of operation, the average ammonia removal efficiency was 5.56% (Fig. 1b.), demonstrating proficient removal of bCOD removal while maintaining a consistent concentration of ammonia nitrogen.



Fig. 3. Performance of MBBR reactor across varied influent wastewater batches: (a) Influent and effluent COD/ NH₄⁺-N ratio; (b) Influent and effluent NH₄⁺-N concentrations and NH₄⁺-N removal efficiencies.

4.2 Performance of AGS

The AGS was fed by the treated effluent from the MBBR with sodium bicarbonate added to maintain the influent pH between 7.5 and 8.0. Its nutrient removal performance was monitored over 200 days (Fig. 4). Fig. 4a. reveals that after treatment with MBBR and AGS, the effluent still presented up to 1200 mg/L of nonbiodegradable COD. After Phase 1, the influent to the AGS system achieved a stable bCOD/ NH_4^+ -N ratio of 1.0 to 1.3, markedly less than the initial ratio of 5. This lower ratio significantly improved conditions for autotrophic AOB in comparison to heterotrophic bacteria, thereby enhancing the nitritation processes. The integrated MBBR-AGS treatment system achieved a COD removal efficiency of up to 70.2%, indicating a robust performance in organic load reduction.

Fig. 4b. shows the influent NH_4^+ -N and effluent NH_4^+ -N, NO_2^- -N, and NO_3^- -N concentrations at different AGS reactor operation stages. The average NH_4^+ -N removal efficiencies were 95.1%, 98.2%, 96.3% and 98.9% for Stages 1 to 4, respectively. During the start-up phase, the

inoculated sludge progressively acclimated to the systemic environment and the nitritation process improved. Almost all of the ammonia was oxidized to nitrite at the superficial air up-flow velocity of 1.1 cm/s. The accumulated NO_2^- -N accounted for 90 % of the oxidized NH_4^+ -N, suggesting that NOB inhibition was successful. To enhance process efficiency, the HRT was systematically decreased from 30 h to 10 h. Despite varied NLR, the system consistently accomplished efficient NH_4^+ -N removal, illustrating its capacity to achieve nitrogen elimination with elevated NLR.

As shown in Fig. 4c., the average TIN removal efficiencies were 77.1%, 91.7%, 88.5% and 81.1% for Stages 1 to 4, respectively. Carbon source plays an important role in the denitritation process. In most cases, denitrifying bacteria, which are heterotrophic, depend on an organic carbon source to facilitate cell growth and the conversion of nitrite and nitrate. The choice of carbon source greatly influences the efficacy of denitrification. Methanol is typically the preferred carbon source, as it appears to maximize the rate of denitrification (Tchobanoglous et al., 2014). In practical applications, internal carbon sources such as those from raw wastewater and endogenous processes are considered secondary importance as carbon sources (Christensen & Harremoës, 2013; Water Environment Federation & Environmental and Water Resources Institute (U.S.), 2006). In the start-up phase, without the addition of an external carbon source, raw wastewater was introduced as the carbon source during the anoxic phase. To provide an optimal environment for AOB, the bulk of the biodegradable COD is removed before entering the AGS reactor. Accordingly, from Stage 1 to Stage 4, methanol is administered as an external carbon source in the anoxic phase to maintain a bCOD/N ratio of 2.5, thus promoting the growth of denitrifying bacteria. In the stable phase (Stages 1-4), TIN removal efficiency reached 84.1%,

with effluent NO_2^- -N and NO_3^- -N averaging 35 mg N/L and 5 mg N/L, respectively. These results indicate that the addition of easily biodegradable external carbon can achieve higher TIN removal efficiency as previously reported (Wang et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2020). In Stage 4, the reduction of the anoxic phase to 60 minutes resulted in the TIN removal efficiency drop to 57.8% in the first week. With system stabilization, the efficiency of TIN removal steadily increased, ultimately exceeding an average of 81.1%.



Fig. 4. AGS reactor performance following MBBR reactor treatment: (a) COD Removal by MBBR and AGS, nonbiodegradable COD, COD removal efficiency, and bCOD/ NH⁺₄-N Ratio;
 (b) Influent and effluent nitrogen concentration; (c) N removal efficiencies.

4.3 Sludge properties in the AGS reactor

Fig. 5a. shows the MLSS and MLVSS throughout start-up to stage 4. Initial MLSS and MLVSS concentrations were 8.1 and 6.8 g/L, respectively. During the first 20 days, MLSS and MLVSS continuously increased to 9.1 g/L and 7.6 g/L, resulting in increased microbial mass. Between days 21 and 40, there was a noted decrease in the levels of MLSS and MLVSS concentrations due to the sludge loss caused by foaming in the aerobic phase. Afterwards, as the bCOD/N ratio stabilized, both MLSS and MLVSS gradually increased, and reached 9.3 g/L and 7.4 g/L at the end of the Start-up stage, respectively. Following the decrease of the influent COD in the AGS reactor, a significant increase in biomass concentration (MLSS and MLVSS) was observed within the first week of Stage 1. The increase in biomass concentration in the AGS system is attributed to a substantial reduction in COD, which likely mitigated foaming issues and improved biomass retention. Towards the end of Stage 3, a decrease in biodegradable COD occurred with the shift to batch 3 raw wastewater on day 130, coinciding with significant biomass loss and foaming. These changes suggest biomass washout and increased cell death, potentially due to a reduced C/N ratio, disrupting microbial balance and promoting filamentous bacteria growth, notably with *Microthrix* only detected in Stage 3 with a relative abundance of less than 0.1%, leading to foam formation. Upon increasing the methanol dosage appropriately, the foaming issue was resolved starting from Stage 4. Throughout this stage, reducing the settling time from 30 minutes to 10 minutes had negligible effects on the MLSS and MLVSS concentrations. After 200 days of operation, the concentrations of MLSS and MLVSS had stabilized at 12.7 and 9.3 g/L, respectively.

Decreases in the sludge volume indexes SVI₅ and SVI₃₀ are shown in Fig. 5b., the SVI is the indicator of settling and compact granule formation. Beginning with SVI₅ at 127.3 mL/g and SVI₃₀ at 100.9 mL/g, the sludge was characterized as flocculent. By the end of Stage 4, these indices reduced to 56.7 and 44.3 mL/g, respectively. During the stable operational phase (Stage 1- Stage 4), the sludge showcased optimal settleability, reflected in SVI₃₀ of 45-80 mL/g, with a gradual convergence of SVI₃₀ towards SVI₅. The low SVI values indicate that the granular sludge cultivated in this study has excellent settleability.



Fig. 5. Sludge properties: (a) Concentrations of mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) and mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS); (b) Sludge volume index (SVI) values at 5 min and 30 min.

4.4 Specific microbial activities in the AGS reactor

Fig. 6a. demonstrates that the AOB activity remains consistently higher than the NOB activity. The peak activity of AOB observed in Stage 4 at 0.57 \pm 0.02 g N/g VSS/d aligns with the high end of the previously reported range of 0.07 to 0.64 g N/g VSS/d (Chen et al., 2022; Zou et al., 2022, 2023; Gao, et al., 2024; Zhang, et al., 2024). In contrast, the activity of NOB steadily decreases from Stage 1 to Stage 4, indicating the successful suppression of NOB throughout 200 days of operation. In contrast to the NOB activity (0.14 \pm 0.02 g N/g VSS/d) in the start-up phase, a significant reduction (p < 0.05) of the NOB activity was observed in Stage 1, 2, 3, and 4: 0.06 \pm 0.013 g N/g VSS/d, 0.05 \pm 0.008 g N/g VSS/d, 0.04 \pm 0.009 g N/g VSS/d, and 0.057 \pm 0.006 g N/g VSS/d, respectively. This observed decrease may be associated with the diminished residual nitrite, following the enhanced denitritation capacity.

Fig. 6b. illustrates that, during the start-up phase, denitritation and denitrification activities were 0.26 ± 0.02 and 0.16 ± 0.04 g N/g VSS/d, respectively. In Stage 1, a significantly higher reduction rate of NO₃⁻ -N and NO₃⁻ -N (p < 0.05) was observed, which can be attributed to methanol serving as an external carbon source. The NO₂⁻ -N reduction rate in Stage 1 (0.96 ± 0.03 g N/g VSS/d) was significantly higher (p < 0.05) than the NO₃⁻ -N reduction rate in Stage 1 (0.45 ± 0.01 g N/g VSS/d). Consistent trends were observed from Stage 2 through Stage 4. The highest denitritation activity was achieved in Stage 3 with 1.27 ± 0.01 g N/g VSS/d. The observed decline in denitritation activity to 1.08 ± 0.02 g N/g VSS/d in Stage 4 is likely attributable to the shortened duration of the anoxic phase.



Fig. 6. Specific microbial activity tests. (a) Activity of ammonia oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and nitrite oxidizing bacteria (NOB); (b) Activity of denitritation and denitrification.

4.5 Nitrogen removal on typical AGS cycle

Fig. 7a-d. illustrates the variations in concentrations of NH_4^+ -N, NO_2^- -N and NO_3^- -N throughout the respective stages of the typical cycle. By the end of each treatment cycle, NH_4^+ -N concentrations were reduced to undetectable levels, and TIN exhibited consistently high removal efficiencies across all stages. These results highlight the effectiveness of the two-stage AGS system in nitrogen removal, demonstrating its adaptability to various NLRs.



Fig. 7. Variations in NH_4^+ -N, NO_2^- -N and NO_3^- -N concentrations in the typical cycle tests: (a) Stage 1 (Cycle = 12), (b) Stage 2 (Cycle = 8 h), (c) Stage 3 (Cycle = 6 h), (d) Stage 4 (Cycle = 4 h).

4.6 Microbial Community Dynamics

4.6.1 Alpha diversity of the microbial community

Alpha diversity analysis was conducted on seven sludge samples drawn from the MBBR's biofilm and flocs during Phase 3, and from the AGS reactor at the end of each operational stage. Table 3 details species richness and diversity estimates, utilizing indices such as Richness,

Shannon, Simpson, Chao1, and ACE. With coverage indices exceeding 0.99 for all samples, the sequencing results are confirmed to reflect the actual sample conditions accurately. In the MBBR, flocs demonstrated greater diversity (Shannon index 5.45, Simpson index 0.95) than biofilms, indicating a more complex ecosystem within the free-floating particles. Both biofilm and flocs showed high richness levels (243 and 335, respectively), suggesting a diverse species range within the reactor. A comparison between Stage 1 and the seed in the AGS reactor revealed a pronounced decrease in Chao1, ACE, Shannon, and Simpson indices, hinting at inhibitory influences from certain system compounds on microbial proliferation. However, the diversity and richness levels gradually increased from Stage 2 to Stage 4. This indicates a potential gradual acclimation of the microbial community to the treatment environment.

Reactor	Sample	Richness	Shannon	Simpson	Chao1	ACE
MBBR	Biofilm	243	3.96	0.81	243	243
	Flocs	335	5.45	0.95	335	335
AGS	Seed	195	4.79	0.92	195	195
	Stage 1	134	4.69	0.93	134	134
	Stage 2	237	4.89	0.94	237	237
	Stage 3	314	5.36	0.95	314	314
	Stage 4	354	5.46	0.95	334	335

Table 3. Indices of microbial variety in the MBBR and AGS reactors.

4.6.2 MBBR microbial community dynamics

Fig. 8. illustrates distinct microbial community profiles at the phylum level between biofilm and floc samples within the MBBR system. The biofilm is characterized by a substantial proportion

of Actinobacteriota, accounting for 41.7% of its microbial composition. This dominance may be associated with its capability for extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) secretion. The negatively charged functional groups in EPS have strong capabilities to adsorb organic pollutants, potentially playing a critical role in COD removal (Jena et al., 2016). Conversely, the flocs are predominantly composed of Proteobacteria, at 37.6%, and Bacteroidota, at 22.9%. These phyla are integral to the decomposition of complex organics, which is essential in COD reduction processe. Chloroflexi, filamentous bacteria conducive to microbiological structure formation (Godzieba et al., 2022), are more abundant in flocs (10.7%) than in biofilm (1.7%). This abundance, along with their structural adaptation for better substrate access and overall greater microbial diversity, indicates that flocs are highly suited to the high COD wastewater environment, enhancing the treatment process.



Fig. 8. Relative abundance of the microbial community from the MBBR reactor at the phylum level.

4.6.3 AGS microbial community dynamics

Fig. 9. illustrates the phylum-level shifts in microbial community composition across various stages of the AGS reactor. Proteobacteria predominated in the microbial community across the operation period, with its relative abundance surging from 42.9% in the seed sludge to 66.8% in Stage 4 sludge. The dominance of Proteobacteria has been reported in previous AGS studies (Li et al., 2019; Yuan et al., 2020). Bacteroidota reached the highest relative abundance zenith at Stage 2, accounting for 32% of the total microbial consortium, but witnessed a decline to 13.7% by Stage 4. These phyla are integral to wastewater treatment, with established roles in organic matter degradation and denitrification (Lu et al., 2014). Actinobacteriota displayed a modest reduction in its relative abundance, from 15.9% in the Seed to 6.6% in Stage 4. Actinobacteriota is known for generating substantial secondary metabolites instrumental in organic matter breakdown (Yang et al., 2023). Chloroflexi and Firmicutes were consistently present in lower abundances throughout the treatment stages, with Firmicutes not surpassing a 1.5% relative abundance. In contrast, Planctomycetota exhibited a declining trend, decreasing from 8.6% in the seed to 1.8% by Stage 4, suggesting a diminished role in the reactor's conditions over time.

Figure. 10. illustrates the distribution of microbial genera in the AGS reactor. The relative abundance of *Nitrosomonas*, a key genus of AOB, (Mobarry et al., 1996; S. Zheng et al., 2023) was observed at 0.74% in the seed sludge. From Stage 1 to Stage 4, a consistent increase in relative abundance was noted, reaching 6.34% by Stage 4, which may be attributed to the elevated NLR. Microorganisms associated with NOB, such as *Nitrobacter* and *Nitrospira*, which are commonly reported in wastewater treatment systems, were undetectable in this study (Lin et al., 2023). In Stage 1, *Pseudomonas* was detected at a relative abundance of 6.5%, while in Stage

4, it accounted for 16.7% of the microbial community, functioning as aerobic denitrifying bacteria. *Thauera*, an anaerobic and facultative bacterium essential for denitrification, was present at 11.9% in the Seed sludge (Li et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2018). The abundance of *Thauera*, indicative of its significant role in the denitrification process, peaked at 18.2% during Stage 3. By Stage 4, its relative abundance stabilized at 15.4%, which suggests a sustained denitrification activity throughout the stages of the operation. *Paracoccus*, capable of nitrate removal under anoxic conditions, registered an initial relative abundance of 1.4% in Stage 1, and it achieved a peak of 2.5% in Stage 3, confirming its continuous role in the denitrification process. Despite a subsequent gradual decrease, by Stage 4, *Paracoccus* still maintained a noteworthy presence with a relative abundance of 1.7% (Li et al., 2023; Yuan et al., 2021).



Fig. 9. Microbial community of the granular sludge in the AGS reactor at the phylum.

							Relative abundance (%)
		11.9	16.2	16.5	18.2	15.4	g Thauera	
		7.7	6.5	0.0	0.2		g Pseudomonas	
	Ы	3.6	5.1	6.8	4.5	0.1	g_Arenimonas 15	
	ГЧ	1.4	8.1	7.1	6.0	0.3	g_JG30-KF-CM45	
	Г	2.8	4.6	12.0	8.8	0.5	g_Persicitalea	
	4	0.4	5.8	10.9	5.2	0.1	g_NS9_marine_group	
<u> </u>		0.7	1.8	2.2	2.8	6.3	g_Nitrosomonas	
		1.3	2.5	1.3	2.7	0.9	g_Leucobacter	
	$ \square \square$	1.0	1.4	1.4	2.5	1.7	g_Paracoccus	
	LH	0.3	0.9	3.2	0.0	0.5	g_Fluviicola 5	
	Id	1.4	0.3	1.0	0.8	1.2	g_Taibaiella	
L	1 10	1.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	g_Moheibacter	
		1.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.3	g_Fervidobacterium	
	Lr	0.7	1.3	0.8	1.0	0.1	g_Limnobacter 0	
		1.0	1.4	0.1	0.9	0.0	g_IMCC26207	
	4	1.5	1.0	0.2	0.9	0.2	g_Truepera	
	1	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.4	0.0	g_Rubellimicrobium	
		0.2	1.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	g_Comamonas	
		0.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.8	gDefluviitoga	
		0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	g_UCG-010	
		0.4	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	gPB19	
		0.4	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	g_Tepidiphilus	
	1	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	fAlcaligenaceae	
		0.9	0.4	0.1	0.4	0.1	fMicrobacteriaceae	
		1.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	g_Ruminiclostridium	
	1	0.7	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	g_Paludisphaera	
		0.6	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	g_Thermomonas	
		0.7	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	g_Thermoclostridium	
		9.2	0.1	0.5	0.2	2.4	g_Coprothermobacter	
	ЦЧ	11.9	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.7	g_Corynebacterium	
		7.3	4.1	1.1	1.5	0.0	g_lsosphaera	
		7.0	8.5	3.1	3.6	2.8	f_Comamonadaceae	
		Seed	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Stage 4	-	

Fig. 10. Microbial community of the granular sludge in the AGS reactor at the genus level.

Chapter 5 – Conclusions and Directions for Future Work

5.1 Conclusions

This investigation substantiates the efficacy of a two-stage AGS system for the treatment of autothermal thermophilic aerobic digestion (ATAD) centrate wastewater. Over an operational duration of 200 days, the system demonstrated robust capacities for simultaneous COD and nitrogen removal. Optimal removal efficiencies of 70.2% for COD, 98.9% for NH₄⁺-N, and 91.7% for TIN were achieved, under HRT of 4 hours for the MBBR and 10 hours for the AGS. Additionally, the system achieved organic loading rates (OLRs) exceeding 20 kg/m³/day and demonstrated a nitrogen treatment capacity of 1.77 kg N/m³/day. The microbial consortium, dominated by the phyla Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, and Actinobacteriota, along with critical genera from *Nitrosomonas* and *Thauera*, underpinned the system's performance. These findings advocate for the AGS system's applicability to high ammonia, high COD wastewater streams and warrant further investigation on its scalability and operational dynamics.

5.2 Future work

This study confirms the effectiveness of a two-stage AGS system for treating autothermal thermophilic aerobic digestion (ATAD) centrate wastewater. Future research should focus on the following areas to further understand and optimize this system:

1. Investigate the scalability of the two-stage AGS system for industrial applications, focusing on cost analysis. The implementation of a two-stage system may involve higher operational and capital costs compared to single-reactor systems. A detailed economic assessment is necessary to determine the feasibility and cost-effectiveness of large-scale deployment.

2. Explore the potential of enriching heterotrophic nitrifying bacteria to handle higher C/N ratios. If heterotrophic nitrifying bacteria can efficiently manage high C/N ratios through an anoxic-then-aerobic process, it could be possible to achieve effective nitrogen removal in a single reactor system, thereby reducing complexity and cost.

References:

- Abdullah, N., Yuzir, A., Curtis, T. P., Yahya, A., & Ujang, Z. (2013). Characterization of aerobic granular sludge treating high strength agro-based wastewater at different volumetric loadings. *Bioresource Technology*, *127*, 181–187.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.09.047
- Aghdam, E., Xiang, Y., Ling, L., & Shang, C. (2021). New Insights into Micropollutant Abatement in Ammonia-Containing Water by the UV/Breakpoint Chlorination Process. *ACS ES&T Water*, 1(4), 1025–1034. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsestwater.0c00286

Ahmadi, N., Abbasi, M., Torabian, A., Van Loosdrecht, M. C. M., & Ducoste, J. (2023).
 Biotransformation of micropollutants in moving bed biofilm reactors under
 heterotrophic and autotrophic conditions. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 460, 132232.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2023.132232

American public health association, American water works association, & Water environment federation (Eds.). (2012). *Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater* (22nd ed). American public health association.

Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C. C., Al-Ghalith, G. A., Alexander, H., Alm, E. J., Arumugam, M., Asnicar, F., Bai, Y., Bisanz, J. E., Bittinger, K., Brejnrod, A., Brislawn, C. J., Brown, C. T., Callahan, B. J., Caraballo-Rodríguez, A. M., Chase, J., ...
Caporaso, J. G. (2019). Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nature Biotechnology*, *37*(8), 852–857. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9

- Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., & Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. *Nature Methods*, *13*(7), 581–583. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (Ed.). (1999). *Canadian environmental quality guidelines*. CCME.
- Chen, D., Li, H., Xue, X., Zhang, L., Hou, Y., Chen, H., Zhang, Y., Song, Y., Zhao, S., & Guo, J. (2022). Enhanced simultaneous partial nitrification and denitrification performance of aerobic granular sludge via tapered aeration in sequencing batch reactor for treating low strength and low COD/TN ratio municipal wastewater. *Environmental Research*, 209, 112743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.112743
- Chen, X., Wang, X., Wang, Q., Wang, J., Lei, Z., Yuan, T., Zhang, Z., & Lee, D.-J. (2024). Energy and resource recovery from a future aerobic granular sludge wastewater treatment plant and benefit analysis. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, *487*, 150558.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2024.150558

- Christensen, M. H., & Harremoës, P. (2013). BIOLOGICAL DENITRIFICATION OF SEWAGE: A LITERATURE REVIEW. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Nitrogen As a Water Pollutant* (pp. 509–555). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4832-1344-6.50039-3
- Ciudad, G., Rubilar, O., Muñoz, P., Ruiz, G., Chamy, R., Vergara, C., & Jeison, D. (2005). Partial nitrification of high ammonia concentration wastewater as a part of a shortcut biological nitrogen removal process. *Process Biochemistry*, *40*(5), 1715–1719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2004.06.058

- Claros, J., Jiménez, E., Aguado, D., Ferrer, J., Seco, A., & Serralta, J. (2013). Effect of pH and HNO2 concentration on the activity of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria in a partial nitritation reactor. *Water Science and Technology*, *67*(11), 2587–2594. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2013.132
- Daims, H., Lebedeva, E. V., Pjevac, P., Han, P., Herbold, C., Albertsen, M., Jehmlich, N.,
 Palatinszky, M., Vierheilig, J., Bulaev, A., Kirkegaard, R. H., Von Bergen, M., Rattei, T.,
 Bendinger, B., Nielsen, P. H., & Wagner, M. (2015). Complete nitrification by Nitrospira
 bacteria. *Nature*, *528*(7583), 504–509. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16461
- Daims, H., Lücker, S., & Wagner, M. (2016). A New Perspective on Microbes Formerly Known as Nitrite-Oxidizing Bacteria. *Trends in Microbiology*, *24*(9), 699–712. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2016.05.004
- Daims, H., Nielsen, J. L., Nielsen, P. H., Schleifer, K.-H., & Wagner, M. (2001). In Situ Characterization of *Nitrospira* -Like Nitrite-Oxidizing Bacteria Active in Wastewater Treatment Plants. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *67*(11), 5273–5284. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.67.11.5273-5284.2001
- Di Biase, A., Kowalski, M. S., Devlin, T. R., & Oleszkiewicz, J. A. (2019). Moving bed biofilm reactor technology in municipal wastewater treatment: A review. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *247*, 849–866.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.06.053

Di Capua, F., Iannacone, F., Sabba, F., & Esposito, G. (2022). Simultaneous nitrification– denitrification in biofilm systems for wastewater treatment: Key factors, potential routes, and engineered applications. Bioresource Technology, 361, 127702.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2022.127702

EPA. (1993). Process design manual for nitrogen control. EPA PUBL. (n.d.).

- Ge, S., Peng, Y., Qiu, S., Zhu, A., & Ren, N. (2014). Complete nitrogen removal from municipal wastewater via partial nitrification by appropriately alternating anoxic/aerobic conditions in a continuous plug-flow step feed process. *Water Research*, 55, 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.01.058
- Ge, S., Wang, S., Yang, X., Qiu, S., Li, B., & Peng, Y. (2015). Detection of nitrifiers and evaluation of partial nitrification for wastewater treatment: A review. *Chemosphere*, *140*, 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.02.004
- Godzieba, M., Zubrowska-Sudol, M., Walczak, J., & Ciesielski, S. (2022). Development of microbial communities in biofilm and activated sludge in a hybrid reactor. *Scientific Reports*, *12*(1), 12558. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-16570-z
- Gupta, V. K., Ali, I., Saleh, T. A., Nayak, A., & Agarwal, S. (2012). Chemical treatment technologies for waste-water recycling—An overview. *RSC Advances*, 2(16), 6380. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2ra20340e

Hamza, R. A., Zaghloul, M. S., Iorhemen, O. T., Sheng, Z., & Tay, J. H. (2019). Optimization of organics to nutrients (COD:N:P) ratio for aerobic granular sludge treating high-strength organic wastewater. *Science of The Total Environment*, 650, 3168–3179.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.026

Han, S., Li, X., Luo, X., Wen, S., Chen, W., & Huang, Q. (2018). Nitrite-Oxidizing Bacteria Community Composition and Diversity Are Influenced by Fertilizer Regimes, but Are Independent of the Soil Aggregate in Acidic Subtropical Red Soil. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *9*, 885. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00885

- Hellinga, C., Schellen, A. A. J. C., Mulder, J. W., Van Loosdrecht, M. C. M., & Heijnen, J. J. (1998).
 The sharon process: An innovative method for nitrogen removal from ammonium-rich waste water. *Water Science and Technology*, *37*(9), 135–142.
 https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.1998.0350
- Holmes, D. E., Dang, Y., & Smith, J. A. (2019). Nitrogen cycling during wastewater treatment. In Advances in Applied Microbiology (Vol. 106, pp. 113–192). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aambs.2018.10.003
- Huang, H., Liu, J., Zhang, P., Zhang, D., & Gao, F. (2017). Investigation on the simultaneous removal of fluoride, ammonia nitrogen and phosphate from semiconductor wastewater using chemical precipitation. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 307, 696–706.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2016.08.134
- Hüpeden, J., Wegen, S., Off, S., Lücker, S., Bedarf, Y., Daims, H., Kühn, C., & Spieck, E. (2016).
 Relative Abundance of Nitrotoga spp. In a Biofilter of a Cold-Freshwater Aquaculture
 Plant Appears To Be Stimulated by Slightly Acidic pH. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 82(6), 1838–1845. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03163-15
- Hussain, S., Ferrentino, R., Khan, K., Ali, Z., Yousuf, M., & Andreottola, G. (2024). Rapid startup of aerobic granular sludge: Recent advances and future challenges. *Results in Engineering*, 22, 102035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rineng.2024.102035

Ishaq, H., & Crawford, C. (2024). Review and evaluation of sustainable ammonia production, storage and utilization. *Energy Conversion and Management*, *300*, 117869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2023.117869

Izadi, P., Izadi, P., & Eldyasti, A. (2021). Towards mainstream deammonification: Comprehensive review on potential mainstream applications and developed sidestream technologies. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *279*, 111615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111615

Jena, J., Kumar, R., Saifuddin, M., Dixit, A., & Das, T. (2016). Anoxic–aerobic SBR system for nitrate, phosphate and COD removal from high-strength wastewater and diversity study of microbial communities. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 105, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2015.09.007

- Jiang, Z., Yu, H., Zhuo, X., Bai, X., Shen, J., & Zhang, H. (2022). Efficient treatment of aged landfill leachate containing high ammonia nitrogen concentration using dynamic wave stripping:
 Insights into influencing factors and kinetic mechanism. *Waste Management*, 150, 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2022.06.035
- Kamilya, T., Majumder, A., Saidulu, D., Tripathy, S., & Gupta, A. K. (2023). Optimization of a continuous hybrid moving bed biofilm reactor and constructed wetland system for the treatment of paracetamol-spiked domestic wastewater. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 477, 147139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2023.147139
- Ke, X., Li, Y.-X., Guo, T.-T., Liao, Z.-L., Tang, S.-Q., Zhang, Y.-C., Zhou, S.-P., Xue, Y.-P., & Zheng, Y.-G. (2024). Artificial microbial consortia engineering: Intensify nitrogen removal from

mature landfill leachate by simultaneous nitrification and denitrification. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, *61*, 105281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2024.105281

- Kits, K. D., Sedlacek, C. J., Lebedeva, E. V., Han, P., Bulaev, A., Pjevac, P., Daebeler, A., Romano, S., Albertsen, M., Stein, L. Y., Daims, H., & Wagner, M. (2017). Kinetic analysis of a complete nitrifier reveals an oligotrophic lifestyle. *Nature*, *549*(7671), 269–272. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23679
- Könneke, M., Bernhard, A. E., De La Torre, J. R., Walker, C. B., Waterbury, J. B., & Stahl, D. A.
 (2005). Isolation of an autotrophic ammonia-oxidizing marine archaeon. *Nature*,
 437(7058), 543–546. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03911
- Koops, H.-P., Purkhold, U., Pommerening-Röser, A., Timmermann, G., & Wagner, M. (2006). The Lithoautotrophic Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacteria. In M. Dworkin, S. Falkow, E. Rosenberg, K.-H. Schleifer, & E. Stackebrandt (Eds.), *The Prokaryotes* (pp. 778–811). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-30745-1_36
- Kruse, M., Zumbrägel, S., Bakker, E., Spieck, E., Eggers, T., & Lipski, A. (2013). The nitriteoxidizing community in activated sludge from a municipal wastewater treatment plant determined by fatty acid methyl ester-stable isotope probing. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, *36*(7), 517–524. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2013.06.007
- Lawson, C. E., & Lücker, S. (2018). Complete ammonia oxidation: An important control on nitrification in engineered ecosystems? *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, *50*, 158–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2018.01.015
- Li, J., Peng, Y., Zhang, L., Liu, J., Wang, X., Gao, R., Pang, L., & Zhou, Y. (2019). Quantify the contribution of anammox for enhanced nitrogen removal through metagenomic analysis

and mass balance in an anoxic moving bed biofilm reactor. *Water Research*, *160*, 178–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.05.070

- Li, L., Qian, G., Ye, L., Hu, X., Yu, X., & Lyu, W. (2018). Research on the enhancement of biological nitrogen removal at low temperatures from ammonium-rich wastewater by the bioelectrocoagulation technology in lab-scale systems, pilot-scale systems and a full-scale industrial wastewater treatment plant. *Water Research*, *140*, 77–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.04.036
- Li, L., Xiong, S., Wang, Q., Xue, C., Xiao, P., & Qian, G. (2023). Enhancement strategies of aerobic denitrification for efficient nitrogen removal from low carbon-to-nitrogen ratio shale oil wastewater. *Bioresource Technology*, *387*, 129663.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2023.129663

- Lin, C., Liu, Y., Li, Y.-Y., & Liu, J. (2023). Difference of high-salinity-induced inhibition of ammoniaoxidising bacteria and nitrite-oxidising bacteria and its applications. *Bioresource Technology*, *387*, 129640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2023.129640
- Liu, S., Ning, P., Zhu, N., Li, L. Y., & Gong, X. (2013). Semicontinuous Operation of One-Stage Autothermal Thermophilic Aerobic Digestion of Sewage Sludge: Effects of Retention Time. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, *139*(3), 422–427. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0000652
- Liu, S., Zhu, N., Li, L. Y., & Yuan, H. (2011). Isolation, identification and utilization of thermophilic strains in aerobic digestion of sewage sludge. *Water Research*, 45(18), 5959–5968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.08.052

- Liu, X., Chen, Y., Zhang, X., Jiang, X., Wu, S., Shen, J., Sun, X., Li, J., Lu, L., & Wang, L. (2015).
 Aerobic granulation strategy for bioaugmentation of a sequencing batch reactor (SBR)
 treating high strength pyridine wastewater. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 295, 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.04.025
- Liu, Y., Ngo, H. H., Guo, W., Peng, L., Wang, D., & Ni, B. (2019). The roles of free ammonia (FA) in biological wastewater treatment processes: A review. *Environment International*, 123, 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.11.039
- Lu, H., Chandran, K., & Stensel, D. (2014). Microbial ecology of denitrification in biological wastewater treatment. Water Research, 64, 237–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.06.042
- Luo, J., Hao, T., Wei, L., Mackey, H. R., Lin, Z., & Chen, G.-H. (2014). Impact of influent COD/N ratio on disintegration of aerobic granular sludge. *Water Research*, *62*, 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.05.037
- Ma, W., Han, Y., Ma, W., Han, H., Zhu, H., Xu, C., Li, K., & Wang, D. (2017). Enhanced nitrogen removal from coal gasification wastewater by simultaneous nitrification and denitrification (SND) in an oxygen-limited aeration sequencing batch biofilm reactor. *Bioresource Technology*, 244, 84–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.07.083

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.03.062

Martín, M. A., Gutiérrez, M. C., Dios, M., Siles, J. A., & Chica, A. F. (2018). Application of ATAD technology for digesting sewage sludge in small towns: Operation and costs. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *215*, 185–194.

- Mazioti, A. A., Stasinakis, A. S., Psoma, A. K., Thomaidis, N. S., & Andersen, H. R. (2017). Hybrid Moving Bed Biofilm Reactor for the biodegradation of benzotriazoles and hydroxybenzothiazole in wastewater. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *323*, 299–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.06.035
- Meng, P., Pei, H., Hu, W., Shao, Y., & Li, Z. (2014). How to increase microbial degradation in constructed wetlands: Influencing factors and improvement measures. *Bioresource Technology*, 157, 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.095
- Miyake, M., Hasebe, Y., Furusawa, K., Shiomi, H., Inoue, D., & Ike, M. (2022). Efficient aerobic granular sludge production in simultaneous feeding and drawing sequencing batch reactors fed with low-strength municipal wastewater under high organic loading rate conditions. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, *184*, 108469.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2022.108469

- Mobarry, B. K., Wagner, M., Urbain, V., Rittmann, B. E., & Stahl, D. A. (1996). Phylogenetic probes for analyzing abundance and spatial organization of nitrifying bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *62*(6), 2156–2162. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.62.6.2156-2162.1996
- Pedrouso, A., Morales, N., Rodelas, B., Correa-Galeote, D., Val Del Rio, A., Campos, J. L.,
 Vazquez-Padin, J., & Mosquera-Corral, A. (2023). Rapid start-up and stable maintenance of the mainstream nitritation process based on the accumulation of free nitrous acid in a pilot-scale two-stage nitritation-anammox system. *Separation and Purification Technology*, *317*, 123851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seppur.2023.123851

Phan, T. A., Pham, T. N., Duong, T. H., & Nguyen, H. M. (2022). Novel carrier for seafood wastewater treatment using moving bed biofilm reactor system. *Environmental Engineering Research*, 28(5), 220508–0. https://doi.org/10.4491/eer.2022.508

Priya, E., Kumar, S., Verma, C., Sarkar, S., & Maji, P. K. (2022). A comprehensive review on technological advances of adsorption for removing nitrate and phosphate from waste water. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 49, 103159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2022.103159

- Qian, J., Zhou, J., Zhang, Z., Liu, R., & Wang, Q. (2016). Biological Nitrogen Removal through Nitritation Coupled with Thiosulfate-Driven Denitritation. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 27502. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27502
- Radniecki, T. S., & Lauchnor, E. G. (2011). Investigating Nitrosomonas europaea Stress
 Biomarkers in Batch, Continuous Culture, and Biofilm Reactors. In *Methods in Enzymology* (Vol. 496, pp. 217–246). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386489-5.00009-9
- Reino, C., & Carrera, J. (2021). Impact of the nitrifying community dynamics on the partial nitritation process performed by an AOB-enriched culture in a granular sludge airlift reactor. *Journal of Environmental Chemical Engineering*, 9(6), 106691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2021.106691
- Roots, P., Wang, Y., Rosenthal, A. F., Griffin, J. S., Sabba, F., Petrovich, M., Yang, F., Kozak, J. A.,
 Zhang, H., & Wells, G. F. (2019). Comammox Nitrospira are the dominant ammonia
 oxidizers in a mainstream low dissolved oxygen nitrification reactor. *Water Research*,
 157, 396–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.060

- Ruiz, G., Jeison, D., Rubilar, O., Ciudad, G., & Chamy, R. (2006). Nitrification–denitrification via nitrite accumulation for nitrogen removal from wastewaters. *Bioresource Technology*, *97*(2), 330–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2005.02.018
- Sarma, S. J., & Tay, J. H. (2018). Aerobic granulation for future wastewater treatment technology: Challenges ahead. *Environmental Science: Water Research & Technology*, 4(1), 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7EW00148G
- Scandelai, A. P. J., Zotesso, J. P., Jegatheesan, V., Cardozo-Filho, L., & Tavares, C. R. G. (2020). Intensification of supercritical water oxidation (ScWO) process for landfill leachate treatment through ion exchange with zeolite. *Waste Management*, 101, 259–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2019.10.005
- Simon, J., & Klotz, M. G. (2013). Diversity and evolution of bioenergetic systems involved in microbial nitrogen compound transformations. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)* -*Bioenergetics*, 1827(2), 114–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.07.005
- Soliman, M., & Eldyasti, A. (2018). Ammonia-Oxidizing Bacteria (AOB): Opportunities and applications—a review. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, *17*(2), 285–321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-018-9463-4
- Sui, Q., Liu, C., Zhang, J., Dong, H., Zhu, Z., & Wang, Y. (2016). Response of nitrite accumulation and microbial community to free ammonia and dissolved oxygen treatment of high ammonium wastewater. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 100(9), 4177–4187. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-7183-z
- Tashiro, Y., Kanda, K., Asakura, Y., Kii, T., Cheng, H., Poudel, P., Okugawa, Y., Tashiro, K., & Sakai, K. (2018). A Unique Autothermal Thermophilic Aerobic Digestion Process Showing a

Dynamic Transition of Physicochemical and Bacterial Characteristics from the Mesophilic to the Thermophilic Phase. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, *84*(6), e02537-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02537-17

- Tchobanoglous, G., Stensel, H. D., Tsuchihashi, R., Burton, F. L., Abu-Orf, M., Bowden, G., Pfrang,
 W., & Metcalf & Eddy (Eds.). (2014). Wastewater engineering: Treatment and resource
 recovery (Fifth edition). McGraw-Hill Education.
- Wang, L., Yu, X., Xiong, W., Li, P., Wang, S., Fan, A., & Su, H. (2020). Enhancing robustness of aerobic granule sludge under low C/N ratios with addition of kitchen wastewater. *Journal* of Environmental Management, 265, 110503.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110503

- Wang, S., Li, Q., Zhang, P., Li, J., Zheng, J., Meng, F., Li, Y., & Yu, J. (2022). Start-up a novel coupling process with partial nitritation, partial denitrification and anaerobic ammonia oxidation in a single sequencing batch reactor. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 45, 102472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwpe.2021.102472
- Water Environment Federation, & Environmental and Water Resources Institute (U.S.) (Eds.). (2006). *Biological nutrient removal (BNR) operation in wastewater treatment plants*. McGraw-Hill.
- Watson, S. W., & Waterbury, J. B. (1971). Characteristics of two marine nitrite oxidizing bacteria, Nitrospina gracilis nov. Gen. Nov. Sp. And Nitrococcus mobilis nov. Gen. Nov. Sp. Archiv
 F r Mikrobiologie, 77(3), 203–230. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00408114
- Xu, H., Deng, Y., Li, X., Liu, Y., Huang, S., Yang, Y., Wang, Z., & Hu, C. (2021). Effect of Increasing C/N Ratio on Performance and Microbial Community Structure in a Membrane

Bioreactor with a High Ammonia Load. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(15), 8070. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18158070

- Yang, Y., Herbold, C. W., Jung, M.-Y., Qin, W., Cai, M., Du, H., Lin, J.-G., Li, X., Li, M., & Gu, J.-D. (2021). Survival strategies of ammonia-oxidizing archaea (AOA) in a full-scale WWTP treating mixed landfill leachate containing copper ions and operating at low-intensity of aeration. *Water Research*, 191, 116798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116798
- Yang, Y., Peng, Y., Cheng, J., Zhang, S., Liu, C., & Zhang, L. (2023). A novel two-stage aerobic granular sludge system for simultaneous nutrient removal from municipal wastewater with low C/N ratios. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 462, 142318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2023.142318
- Yi, H., Li, M., Huo, X., Zeng, G., Lai, C., Huang, D., An, Z., Qin, L., Liu, X., Li, B., Liu, S., Fu, Y., & Zhang, M. (2020). Recent development of advanced biotechnology for wastewater treatment. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, *40*(1), 99–118. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2019.1682964
- Yilmaz, P., Parfrey, L. W., Yarza, P., Gerken, J., Pruesse, E., Quast, C., Schweer, T., Peplies, J., Ludwig, W., & Glöckner, F. O. (2014). The SILVA and "All-species Living Tree Project (LTP)" taxonomic frameworks. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(D1), D643–D648. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1209
- Yuan, C., Wang, B., Peng, Y., Hu, T., Zhang, Q., & Li, X. (2020). Nutrient removal and microbial community in a two-stage process: Simultaneous enhanced biological phosphorus removal and semi-nitritation (EBPR-SN) followed by anammox. *Bioresource Technology*, *310*, 123471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123471

Yuan, H., Huang, S., Yuan, J., You, Y., & Zhang, Y. (2021). Characteristics of microbial denitrification under different aeration intensities: Performance, mechanism, and cooccurrence network. *Science of The Total Environment*, *754*, 141965. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141965

Zhang, Q., Chen, X., Zhang, Z., Luo, W., Wu, H., Zhang, L., Zhang, X., & Zhao, T. (2020). Performance and microbial ecology of a novel moving bed biofilm reactor process inoculated with heterotrophic nitrification-aerobic denitrification bacteria for high ammonia nitrogen wastewater treatment. *Bioresource Technology*, *315*, 123813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123813

Zhao, Y., Huang, J., Zhao, H., & Yang, H. (2013). Microbial community and N removal of aerobic granular sludge at high COD and N loading rates. *Bioresource Technology*, *143*, 439–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.06.020

Zheng, M., Wang, M., Zhao, Z., Zhou, N., He, S., Liu, S., Wang, J., & Wang, X. (2019). Transcriptional activity and diversity of comammox bacteria as a previously overlooked ammonia oxidizing prokaryote in full-scale wastewater treatment plants. *Science of The Total Environment*, 656, 717–722. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.435

- Zheng, S., Zheng, X., Guo, M., & Li, S. (2023). Metabolic inhibitor-free assessment of the heterotrophic ammonia-oxidizing activity in activated sludge. *Science of The Total Environment*, 901, 165907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.165907
- Zhou, X., Zhang, X., Zhang, Z., & Liu, Y. (2018). Full nitration-denitration versus partial nitrationdenitration-anammox for treating high-strength ammonium-rich organic wastewater. *Bioresource Technology*, 261, 379–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.04.049

- Zhou, Y., Oehmen, A., Lim, M., Vadivelu, V., & Ng, W. J. (2011). The role of nitrite and free nitrous acid (FNA) in wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*, 45(15), 4672–4682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.06.025
- Zinatizadeh, A. A. L., & Ghaytooli, E. (2015). Simultaneous nitrogen and carbon removal from wastewater at different operating conditions in a moving bed biofilm reactor (MBBR):
 Process modeling and optimization. *Journal of the Taiwan Institute of Chemical Engineers*, 53, 98–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtice.2015.02.034
- Zou, X., Gao, M., Mohammed, A., & Liu, Y. (2023). Responses of various carbon to nitrogen ratios to microbial communities, kinetics, and nitrogen metabolic pathways in aerobic granular sludge reactor. *Bioresource Technology*, *367*, 128225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2022.128225
- Zou, X., Gao, M., Yao, Y., Zhang, Y., Guo, H., & Liu, Y. (2024). Efficient nitrogen removal from ammonia rich wastewater using aerobic granular sludge (AGS) reactor: Selection and enrichment of effective microbial community. *Environmental Research*, 251, 118573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2024.118573
- Zou, X., Mohammed, A., Gao, M., & Liu, Y. (2022). Mature landfill leachate treatment using granular sludge-based reactor (GSR) via nitritation/denitritation: Process startup and optimization. Science of The Total Environment, 844, 157078. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.157078
- Zou, X., Zhang, Y., Gao, M., Yao, Y., Guo, H., & Liu, Y. (2024). Enhancing biological dissolved organic nitrogen removal in landfill leachate wastewater: The role of sodium acetate co-

metabolism. Chemical Engineering Journal, 479, 147714.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2023.147714